5 September 2012

Mr Leighton Andrews AM

The Minister for Education & Skills

Welsh Government

Cathays Park

Cardiff

CF10 3NQ

Dear Minister

I write to update you regarding the current position of the University of Wales.  As you will be aware, the Council of the University of Wales resolved in October 2011, to merge into the University of Wales: Trinity Saint David.  The proposed merger would also include Swansea Metropolitan University.

On my appointment as Vice-Chancellor of the University of Wales in September 2011, I made a series of recommendations to the University Council that the University should bring to a close all current validated activity offered through accredited validating centres.  In addition to this recommendation, I also recommended that the University should give leave of notice to all other universities in Wales with regard to its accrediting function.  These recommendations were accepted by the Council.

Mindful of the fact that the University of Wales had entered into legal agreements with over a hundred validated centres, I considered it appropriate to establish an external expert group to oversee the initial process of establishing appropriate exiting arrangements from validated centres.  Senior academics, who are recognised by the Quality Assurance Agency, from various universities in the United Kingdom were invited to serve on the expert group.  It was the view of the University Council that such external scrutiny would give confidence to stakeholders that the process of managing closure was being dealt with appropriately.   Throughout this process, your officials and senior officers of HEFCW have been regularly briefed on all strategic developments.  In the same context regular briefings have been held with the QAA so that they are fully informed of the merger and exit process. 

To date, the University of Wales has served notice on all international validated centres.  A detailed exit agreements have been prepared outlining the legal responsibilities of both the University and the Collaborative Centres during the exit period.  One of the key risks identified in this process was the fact that the University of Wales had not secured any form of consistency in the initial legal contracts regarding exit dates or arrangements with validated centres. The University has had to agree individual exit agreements with every centre.  The implications of such exit agreements reqiuires that there has to be a legal obligation on the part of the University to allow all students that have matriculated to receive a Wales award.  Based upon such a legal contractual commitment, a ‘residual body’ empowered to award such a degree will be required up to at least 2017/18.  With regard to the part-time students that have been registered on graduate and post-graduate degrees it is difficult to give a specific exit date.  I have instructed legal advisors to review this issue and I am in constant dialogue with your officers regarding the matter.

Given that a ‘residual body’ is required to cover the above litigation issues, the University of Wales Council has moved immediately to start the process of scaling down the current form of the Supplemental Charter.  The Council has agreed to substantial changes and it should be noted that most of the current statutes have been deleted.  The Charter has been presented to the Privy Council.  Initial comments from your advisors have been received and I am in the process of instructing the University lawyers to add additional clauses within the proposed Supplemental Revised Charter which will note specific dates with regard to exit/closure.  This will be then presented to the Council and the Privy Council for consideration with the view, hopefully, of receiving Royal Assent before the end of the year.  The revisions of the Charter signify the start of irreversible constitutional change which will, in due course, lead to the full merger of the University of Wales into the University of Wales: Trinity Saint David.  At that particular point, the current Charter of the University of Wales will no longer be required.  

The University Council has been very much aware of its responsibility regarding the safeguarding of the various cultural initiatives associated with the institution.  Over the years the University of Wales has made significant financial commitments towards CAWCS, Y Geiriadur and Gregynog.  You will recall that the University Council noted its intention to safeguard these assets through the ‘Wales’ pledge.  ‘Adduned Cymru’ was a strategic statement of intent which signified the clear commitment of both the University of Wales and the University of Wales: Trinity Saint David to safeguard these specific issues for the nation.  

Detailed discussions have taken place during the year with Lord Davies of Llandinam regarding Gregynog Hall.  As you will be aware, Gregynog Hall still remains the property of the Davies family.  It was offered, through a deed of gift, to the University of Wales to use for educational purposes.  The University Council and Lord Davies of Llandinam are minded to establish a new Trust/Charity which will have as its sole object, the promotion and safeguarding of the Gregynog inheritance.  This I believe will offer far more security and flexibility for the future use of Gregynog.  It is envisaged that the Trust will be established towards the end of this year. 

In the same context, the University of Wales and the University of Wales: Trinity Saint David are committed to the further development of CAWCS.  Already academics at both Universities have been working to establish new initiatives.  Detailed academic discussions have taken place with the view of launching a Welsh Heritage Academy.  With regard to the Welsh Dictionary, I would very much value the opportunity of discussing future possible plans with your officers.  I believe that there is an excellent opportunity to bring various initiatives together and to seek European Funding for developing  new research opportunities in this area.

In addition to the above, I have presented to the University of Wales a range of recommendations regarding their custodial duties relating to the various restricted endowments kept by the University of Wales.  These, in the main, are named scholarships/prizes, made in good faith by benefactors to support specific subject activities at named colleges across Wales.  The University Council has agreed that it should establish a Trust whereby all such restricted endowments are transferred.  These will only be used in accordance with the original intentions of the benefactors.  The establishment of such a Trust will, I hope, give confidence to the sector that the University of Wales will honour all commitments made with regard to initial restricted endowments.  In the same context, the Council has accepted my recommendation that any remaining land that has yet to be sold in accordance with the deeds associated with the Welsh Church Act should be dispensed of as soon as possible.  Any proceeds acquired through sale of land should be shared, in accordance with the original deeds, between the universities of Bangor, Aberystwyth, Swansea, Cardiff, The National Library of Wales and the University of Wales/the transformed University.

With regard to human resource issues, it should be noted that the University Council resolved that over three million should be saved in staffing costs.  That process has now been completed and I can confirm that the initial target was reached.  Within such a process, a number of senior officers of the University have decided to relinquish their duties.  Some have now taken up new responsibilities at other universities in Wales.  It is envisaged that the University Council will continue to monitor very carefully the staffing requirements of the University in this transformational period of change.  I expect that the University Council will annually review staffing compliments.

The last twelve months have seen significant changes within the University of Wales.  As Vice-Chancellor, I am very much aware of the responsibilities of leading a complex and diplomatic change management process which carries with it possible substantial risk.  I trust that you are content that the process has been dealt with appropriately and that due regard has been given to the mitigation of risks.  With your permission, I would welcome the opportunity of updating you every six months through a formal letter.  This, I would hope, would give you and your fellow Ministers assurances that the University of Wales is addressing appropriate issues and managing the process of transformational change appropriately.  

Yours sincerely

Professor Medwin Hughes DL

Vice-Chancellor

